Public Document Pack

LICENSING COMMITTEE
Meeting to be held in Civic Hall, Leeds on
Tuesday, 9th August, 2022
at 10.00 am

MEMBERSHIP
Councillors
N Buckley -

Alwoodley;

R Downes -

Otley and Yeadon;

L Farley -

Burmantofts and Richmond Hill;

B Flynn -

Adel and Wharfedale;

A Forsaith A Garthwaite J Gibson (Chair) S Hamilton -

Farnley and Wortley;
Headingley and Hyde Park;
Cross Gates and Whinmoor;
Moortown;

A Hutchison -

Morley North;

J Illingworth -

Kirkstall;

L Martin -

Roundhay;

L Richards -

Wetherby;

A Smart -

Armley;

I Wilson -

Weetwood;

Vacancy -

Agenda compiled by:
Governance Services
Civic Hall

Helen Gray
37 88657

Produced on Recycled Paper

AGENDA

Item
No
1

Ward

Item Not
Open

Page
No
APPEALS AGAINST REFUSAL OF INSPECTION
OF DOCUMENTS
To consider any appeals in accordance with
Procedure Rule 15.2 of the Access to Information
Procedure Rules (in the event of an Appeal the
press and public will be excluded)
(*In accordance with Procedure Rule 15.2, written
notice of an appeal must be received by the Head
of Governance Services at least 24 hours before
the meeting)

2

EXEMPT INFORMATION - POSSIBLE
EXCLUSION OF THE PRESS AND PUBLIC
1

To highlight reports or appendices which
officers have identified as containing exempt
information, and where officers consider that
the public interest in maintaining the
exemption outweighs the public interest in
disclosing the information, for the reasons
outlined in the report.

2

To consider whether or not to accept the
officers recommendation in respect of the
above information.

3

If so, to formally pass the following
resolution:RESOLVED – That the press and public be
excluded from the meeting during
consideration of those parts of the agenda
designated as containing exempt
information on the grounds that it is likely, in
view of the nature of the business to be
transacted or the nature of the proceedings,
that if members of the press and public were
present there would be disclosure to them of
exempt information

Item
No
3

Ward

Item Not
Open

Page
No
LATE ITEMS
To identify items which have been admitted to the
agenda by the Chair for consideration
(The special circumstances shall be specified in
the minutes)

4

DECLARATION OF INTERESTS
To disclose or draw attention to any interests in
accordance with Leeds City Council’s ‘Councillor
Code of Conduct’.

5

APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE

6

MINUTES

5-8

To approve the minutes of the last meeting held on
27th May 2022
7

LEEDS FESTIVAL 2022
To consider the report of the Chief Officer,
Elections and Regulatory, which advises Members
of the progress of the multi-agency meetings and
the Event Management Plan for the Leeds Festival
2022. The report recommends that the approval of
the final Event Management Plan be delegated to
the Chief Officer, Elections and Regulatory.
(Please note that the meeting may move into close
session when discussing the Event Management
Plan)

9 - 20

Item
No
8

Ward

Item Not
Open

Page
No
TAXI & PRIVATE HIRE LICENSING - RESULTS
OF CONSULTATION ON SUITABILITY (MINOR
MOTORING CONVICTIONS)
To consider the report of the Chief Officer,
Elections and Regulatory, on the outcome of
consultation on proposals to change one of the
criteria within the council’s Suitability and
Convictions policy for taxi and private hire licence
holders relating to points on individuals’ driving
licences for minor motoring convictions. The report
sets out options to consider with a view to making
a recommendation to the Executive Board.

9

DATE AND TIME OF NEXT MEETING
To note the date and time of the next meeting as
Tuesday 6th September 2022 at 10.00 am.
Third Party Recording
Recording of this meeting is allowed to enable those not
present to see or hear the proceedings either as they take
place (or later) and to enable the reporting of those
proceedings. A copy of the recording protocol is available
from the contacts named on the front of this agenda.
Use of Recordings by Third Parties– code of practice
a) Any published recording should be accompanied by
a statement of when and where the recording was
made, the context of the discussion that took place,
and a clear identification of the main speakers and
their role or title.
b) Those making recordings must not edit the recording
in a way that could lead to misinterpretation or
misrepresentation of the proceedings or comments
made by attendees. In particular there should be no
internal editing of published extracts; recordings may
start at any point and end at any point but the
material between those points must be complete.

21 56

Agenda Item 6
Licensing Committee
Friday, 27th May, 2022
PRESENT:

Councillor J Gibson in the Chair
Councillors N Buckley, B Flynn,
A Garthwaite, Illingworth, L Richards,
L Martin, G Almass, L Farley, A Forsaith,
S Hamilton and I Wilson

1

Chairs Opening Remarks
The Chair welcomed all present to the first meeting of the new Municipal Year
and particularly to Councillors A Forsaith, L Farley, S Hamilton and I Wilson
as new Members of the Licensing Committee.
The Chair also paid tribute to the former Chair of the Licensing Committee,
Councillor P Wray and Members joined the Chair in expressing their thanks
and appreciation to the former Chair of the Committee.

2

Appeals Against Refusal of Inspection of Documents
There were no appeals against the refusal of inspection of documents.

3

Exempt Information - Possible Exclusion of the Press and Public
The agenda contained no exempt information.

4

Late Items
No formal late items of business were added to the agenda, however a
supplementary document relating to Item 7 “Licensing Committee – Annual
Governance Arrangements” was presented at the meeting – this contained an
updated Sub Committee membership schedule following formal confirmation
of the Committee membership by Annual Council the previous evening.
(minute 8 refers).

5

Declaration of Interests
No declarations of interests were made at the meeting.

6

Apologies for Absence
Apologies for absence were received from Councillors Downes and
Hutchison.

7

Minutes
RESOLVED – That the minutes of the previous meeting held on 8th March
2022 be agreed as a correct record.

8

Licensing Committee - Annual Governance Arrangements
The City Solicitor submitted a report which sought to establish the governance
arrangements for the Licensing Committee for the 2022/23 Municipal Year.

Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting
to be held on Tuesday 9th August 2022

Page 5

The Principal Legal Officer, Legal Services, presented the report providing a
brief overview of its contents:





Licensing Committee Terms of Reference as set out in Appendix 1 of the
report
Membership of each Licensing Sub-Committee as set out in amended
Appendix 2 tabled at the meeting
Licensing Sub-Committee Terms of Reference as set out in Appendix 3 of the
report
The delegation of Licensing functions to the Director of Communities, Housing
and Environment as contained in Appendix 4.
RESOLVED –
(i)
To note the terms of reference of the Licensing Committee as shown at
Appendix 1
(ii)
A
B
C
D
E

9

That the five Licensing Sub-Committees for hearings required under
the 2003 and 2005 Acts be established with the following
Memberships:
Councillors: Billy Flynn, Lisa Martin and Izaak Wilson
Councillors: Ann Forsaith, Neil Buckley and Gohar Almass
Councillors: Al Garthwaite, Linda Richards and Luke Farley
Councillors: Sharon Hamilton, Ryk Downes and James Gibson
Councillors: Andy Hutchison, John Illingworth and Alice Smart

(iii)

That approval be given to the terms of reference for the Licensing SubCommittees as set out in Appendix 3 of the report

(iv)

To approve the delegation of Licensing functions to the Director of
Communities, Housing and Environment as shown in Appendix 4 of the
report.

Licensing Procedure Rules, the Code of Practice for Determining
Licensing Matters and Prescribed Licensing Training
The City Solicitor submitted a report which set out draft procedure rules
relating to meetings and hearings of the Licensing Committee and subcommittees and sought the approval of Members to the adoption of these to
govern committee procedure.
The report also requested consideration of the Code of Practice for the
Determination of Licensing Matters and sought the agreement of the
Committee to approve and a resolution to follow the Code.
Members noted that in exceptional circumstances the Licensing Sub
Committee could proceed with two members, as long as all parties were in
agreement with this at the start of the hearing.
RESOLVED –
a) That the Licensing Procedure Rules as set out as Appendix 1 of the submitted
report be approved.

Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting
to be held on Tuesday 9th August 2022

Page 6

b) To approve and resolve to follow the contents of the Code of Practice for the
Determination of Licensing Matters as set out in Appendix 2 of the submitted
report.
c) To note the arrangements for the prescribed training programme.
d) To note that once approved the Code of Practice for the Determination of
Licensing Matters will be brought to the attention of all Elected Members.
Cllr Hamilton left the meeting at 11:11am at the start of this item. She advised the
Chair she was in agreement with the recommendations as set out in the
submitted report.

10

Date and Time of Next Meeting
RESOLVED – To note the date and time of the next meeting as Tuesday 5th
July 2022 at 10.00 am.

The meeting concluded at 11:20

Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting
to be held on Tuesday 9th August 2022

Page 7

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 7
Report author: Matthew Nelson
Tel:

0113 378 5337

Leeds Festival 2022
Date:

9th August 2022

Report of: Chief Officer Elections and Regulatory
Report to: Licensing Committee
Will the decision be open for call in?

☐Yes ☒No

Does the report contain confidential or exempt information?

☐Yes ☒No

What is this report about?
•

The Leeds Festival (“the Festival”) takes place each August Bank Holiday at Bramham
Park.

•

The Festival is authorised under a Premises Licence (“the Licence”), granted under the
Licensing Act 2003 and issued by the Licensing Authority to Festival Republic Limited
(“Festival Republic”).

•

The Licence is subject to a condition that the Event Management Plan and any revisions to
the Event Management Plan must be approved by the Licensing Authority prior to the
Festival.

•

The licensing regime contributes to Best City Priorities 2020-25 (see the latest version
available here):
o Culture
o Safe, Strong communities
o Inclusive Growth

Recommendations
It is recommended that the Licensing Committee delegate approval of the final Event
Management Plan to the Chief Officer, Elections and Regulatory.
Members may consider it appropriate for the public to be excluded from part of the meeting to
allow Mr Benn of Festival Republic and other attendees to provide Members with confidential
information associated with the Festival which falls under the Access to Information Procedure
Rules 10.4(3), as it includes information relating to the financial or business affairs of a particular
person or organisation; and 10.4 (7), information relating to any action taken or to be taken in
connection with the prevention, investigation or prosecution of crime and in each case in all the
circumstances of the matter the public interest in maintaining the exemption outweighs the public
interest in disclosing the information.

Page 9

Why is the proposal being put forward?
1 The premises licence for Bramham Park is issued in perpetuity.
2 The premises licence is subject to condition that an Event Management Plan (“EMP”) must
be approved by the Licensing Authority in any year in which the Festival is held.
3 The EMP sets out all arrangements for the event which contribute to the licensing
objectives:
•
•
•
•

The prevention of crime and disorder;
The prevention of public nuisance;
Public safety; and
The prevention of children from harm.

4 The EMP is an evolving document and is presently in draft form. Appendix 1 sets out for
Members’ information the contents of the current draft EMP.
5 Members will be provided with information on the key changes to the EMP for 2022 which
may include welfare arrangements, and outcomes from the locality meetings that have
been taking place between Festival Republic, Ward and Parish representatives.
6 Representing Festival Republic will be Mr Melvin Benn.
7 Specific details in the EMP are yet to be finalised and the final version is not normally
available until shortly before the start of the event. Historically, and for pragmatic reasons,
it is normal practice for the Licensing Committee to delegate approval of the final EMP to
the Chief Officer.
8 Chief Officer approval will be reserved until such time as all agencies confirm through the
Safety Advisory Group process that they are satisfied with the final content of the EMP.
What impact will this proposal have?
Wards Affected: Wetherby & Harewood
Have ward members been consulted?
☒Yes

☐

No

What consultation and engagement has taken place?
9 The original premises licence application approved in April 2006 was subject to the formal
consultation process as prescribed by the Licensing Act 2003.
10 The EMP is no longer held by the Licensing Authority, but is served by the Licence Holder
through Resilience Direct, a secure platform accessible by all blue light and relevant
services who are also members of the Leeds Safety Advisory Group, co-ordinated by the
Page 10

Resilience & Emergencies Team. The services who have access to Resilience Direct
include the West Yorkshire Police, West Yorkshire Fire & Rescue Service, Yorkshire
Ambulance Service, Public Health, Leeds Teaching Hospitals Trust, West Yorkshire
Combined Authority, Security Industry Authority, Highways England and LCC departments
of Highways, Environmental Services, Environmental Health, Health & Safety, Building
Control and the Licensing Authority.
11 Multi-agency meetings under the Safety Advisory Group process have been taking place
since early this year in preparation for the 2022 festival.

What are the resource implications?
12 No resource implications for the licensing authority have been identified.
What are the legal implications?
13 Members may consider it appropriate for the public to be excluded from part of the meeting
to allow Mr Benn and other attendees to provide Members with confidential information
associated with the Festival which fall under the Access to Information Procedure Rules
10.4(3) (information relating to the financial or business affairs of any particular person);
and 10.4 (7) (information relating to any action taken or to be taken in connection with the
prevention, investigation or prosecution of crime) and, in each case, in all the
circumstances of the matter the public interest in maintaining the exemption outweighs the
public interest in disclosing the information.
14 The Licence is subject to the following condition:
“The Event Management Plan and any revisions to the Event Management Plan must be
approved by the Licensing Authority prior to the Festival.”
In order for the Chief Officer’s approval to be valid, it is necessary for the Licensing
Committee to delegate to him its authority to approve the EMP.
15 There is no scope for the Licence to be amended, suspended, or revoked under the
recommendations in this report. A copy of the Licence details incorporating the operating
schedule, including the licensable activities and hours, is attached at Appendix 2.
What are the key risks and how are they being managed?
16 There are no key risks identified.
Does this proposal support the council’s 3 Key Pillars?
☒ Inclusive Growth

☒Health and Wellbeing

☒ Climate Emergency

17 The Festival will bring benefits to the region supporting the city’s economy and hi-lighting
Leeds as a place to visit. Attracting up to 89,999 attendees some of whom will visit the
City’s hospitality and retail sector, stay in accommodation, and use public transport. For
many it will be their first experience of Leeds and they may return later to enjoy the City.
Page 11

18 A range of welfare services are available throughout the site provided by several
voluntary/social care agencies.
19 Festival Republic provide recycling, composting and salvage operations and work within
Leeds City Council recycling targets. Recycling facilities are provided around the site and
whilst attendees are encouraged to take home their camping equipment, they may leave
items at the designated recycling points where items are sorted and donated to good
cause.
20 The traffic management plan includes a shuttle bus service which frequently runs between
Leeds City Centre and the festival site with additional services during times of peak
demand. Festival Republic are also proposing a service to serve the North of the City.
Options, timescales and measuring success
21 Multi-agency meetings will continue until and throughout the duration of the festival. One
such meeting is held on the Friday evening following the first show day which provides for
any matters to be addressed for the subsequent days.
22 Following the Festival, a debrief meeting will be held to help inform the Event Management
Plan for subsequent years.
Appendices
23 Appendix 1 – Event Management Plan Content
24 Appendix 2 – Premises Licence Details
Background papers
25 None

Page 12

Appendix 1

EMP Content

Event Management Plan Content
1 Summary of the Event
1.1 Event Timings
1.2 Site Plan and Site Design
2 Management Structure
2.1 Key Responsibilities
2.2 Staff List
2.3 Event Control
3 Security
3.1
3.2
3.3
3.4
3.5

West Yorkshire Police
Security and Stewards
Lost Property
Searching and Confiscations
CCTV

4 Event Safety Strategy
4.1
4.2
4.3
4.4
4.5
4.6
4.7
4.8
4.9
4.10
4.11
4.12
4.13

Crowd Management
Capacity Management
Evacuation and Emergency Access
Campsite Design
Fire Safety
Structures
Helicopters and Low Flying Aircraft
Signage, Orientation, and Information
Electrics
Lighting
Working Practices
Vehicles and Plant Safety
Facilities for Access Customers

5 Medical & Welfare Provision & Facilities
6 Bars/Concessions
6.1 Bars
6.2 Concessions
6.3 Tobacco Control
7 Environmental
7.1
7.2
7.3
7.4
7.5
7.6

Sanitary Facilities
Drinking Water
Litter/Waste Management
Environmental Monitoring, Removal & Reinstatement
Noise
Liaison with Local Residents

8.1
8.2
8.3
8.4
8.5

Radio Systems
Landlines
Wireless Networks
Emergency Communications
Public Communications Strategy

8 Communications

9 Traffic Management Plan

Page 13

Appendices
Appendix 1
Appendix 2
Appendix 3
Appendix 4
Appendix 5

Major Incident Plan
Medical Management Plan
Noise Management Plan
Traffic Management Plan
Site Plan

Page 14

Appendix 2

Premises Licence Details

Details of premises licence
For: Leeds Festival

This document provides details of the premises licence issued to the stated premises and is
not a licence itself.
Licence number:

PREM/02193/012

Premises the licence relates to:

Leeds Festival, Bramham Park, Thorner
Road, Wothersome, Wetherby, Leeds,
LS23 6ND

Date licence first effective:

28th April 2006

Date current version effective from:

3rd August 2018

The dates for Leeds Festival 2022 are Wednesday 24th, Thursday 25th, Friday 26th,
Saturday 27th and Sunday 28th August 2022
Licensable activities authorised by the licence:
Sale by retail of alcohol
Every Day

00:01 - 00:00

Provision of late night refreshment
Wednesday to Sunday

23:00 - 05:00

Performance of a play
Thursday
Friday to Sunday

19:00 - 03:00
12:00 - 03:00

Exhibition of a film
Thursday
Friday to Sunday

19:00 - 03:00
12:00 - 06:00

Performance of live music
Thursday
Friday to Sunday

19:00 - 03:00
12:00 - 06:00

Performance of recorded music
Thursday
Friday to Sunday

19:00 - 03:00
12:00 - 06:00

Performance of dance
Thursday
Friday to Sunday

19:00 - 03:00
12:00 - 03:00

Entertainment similar to live music, recorded music or dance
Thursday
19:00 - 03:00
Friday to Sunday
12:00 - 06:00
Details of licence numbered : PREM/02193/012

Page 15

Page 1 of 6

Opening hours of the premises:
Everyday

00:01 - 00:00

Premises licence holder(s):
Festival Republic Ltd, 30 St. John Street, London, England, EC1M 4AY
Designated premises supervisor:
Mr Ian Donaldson
Access to the premises by children
Access to the premises by children is restricted.

Details of licence numbered : PREM/02193/012

Page 16

Page 2 of 6

Annex 1 – Mandatory Conditions
1.

Only individuals licensed by the Security Industry Authority may be used at the premises to
guard against:a.
b.
c.

2.

unauthorised access or occupation (e.g. through door supervision), or
outbreaks of disorder, or
damage

No supply of alcohol may be made under this licence
a.

At a time when there is no designated premises supervisor in respect of the premises
licence, or

b.

At a time when the designated premises supervisor does not hold a personal licence or
his personal licence is suspended.

3.

Every supply of alcohol under the premises licence must be made or authorised by a person
who holds a personal licence.

4.

The admission of children under the age of 18 to film exhibitions permitted under the terms of
this licence shall be restricted in accordance with any recommendations made

5.

a.

By the British Board of Film Classification (BBFC,) where the film has been classified by
the Board, or

b.

By the Licensing Authority where no classification certificate has been granted by the
BBFC, or,

c.

where the licensing authority has notified the licence holder that section 20 (3) (b) (74
(3) (b) for clubs) of the Licensing Act 2003 applies to the film.

The responsible person must ensure that staff on relevant premises do not carry out, arrange
or participate in any irresponsible promotions in relation to the premises.
In this paragraph, an irresponsible promotion means any one or more of the following activities,
or substantially similar activities, carried on for the purpose of encouraging the sale or supply of
alcohol for consumption on the premises a.

games or other activities which require or encourage, or are designed to require or
encourage individuals to i.
ii.

drink a quantity of alcohol within a time limit (other than to drink alcohol sold or
supplied on the premises before the cessation of the period in which the
responsible person is authorised to sell or supply alcohol), or
drink as much alcohol as possible (whether within a time limit or otherwise);

b.

provision of unlimited or unspecified quantities of alcohol free or for a fixed or
discounted fee to the public or to a group defined by a particular characteristic in a
manner which carries a significant risk of undermining a licensing objective;

c.

provision of free or discounted alcohol or any other thing as a prize to encourage or
reward the purchase and consumption of alcohol over a period of 24 hours or less in a
manner which carries a significant risk of undermining a licensing objective;

d.

selling or supplying alcohol in association with promotional posters or flyers on, or in the
vicinity of, the premises which can reasonably be considered to condone, encourage or
glamorize anti-social behaviour or to refer to the effects of drunkenness in any
favourable manner.

Details of licence numbered : PREM/02193/012

Page 17

Page 3 of 6

e.

dispensing alcohol directly by one person into the mouth of another (other than where
that other person is unable to drink without assistance by reason of disability).

6.

The responsible person must ensure that free potable water is provided on request to
customers where it is reasonably available.

7.

The premises licence holder or club premises certificate holder must ensure that an age
verification policy is adopted in respect of the premises in relation to the sale or supply of
alcohol.
The designated premises supervisor in relation to the premises licence must ensure that the
supply of alcohol at the premises is carried on in accordance with the age verification policy.
The policy must require individuals who appear to the responsible person to be under 18 years
of age (or such older age as may be specified in the policy) to produce on request, before being
served alcohol, identification bearing their photograph, date or birth and either -

8.

a.

a holographic mark, or

b.

an ultraviolet feature.

The responsible person must ensure that a.

where any of the following alcoholic drinks is sold or supplied for consumption on the
premises (other than alcoholic drinks sold or supplied having been made up in advance
ready for sale or supply in a securely closed container) it is available to customers in the
following measures:
i.
ii.
iii.

9.

beer or cider: ½ pint;
gin, rum, vodka or whisky: 25 ml or 35 ml; and
still wine in a glass: 125 ml;

b.

these measures are displayed in a menu; price list or other printed material which is
available to customers on the premises; and

c.

where a customer does not in relation to a sale of alcohol specify the quantity of alcohol
to be sold, the customer is made aware that these measures are available.

A relevant person shall ensure that no alcohol is sold or supplied for consumption on or off the
premises for a price which is less than the permitted price.
For the purposes of the condition set out in paragraph 1 of this condition a.

"duty" is to be construed in accordance with the Alcoholic Liquor Duties Act 1979;

b.

"permitted price" is the price found by applying the formula P = D + (D×V) where i.
P is the permitted price,
ii.
D is the amount of duty chargeable in relation to the alcohol as if the duty
were charged on the date of the sale or supply of the alcohol, and
iii.
V is the rate of value added tax chargeable in relation to the alcohol as if the
value added tax were charged on the date of the sale or supply of the alcohol;

c.

"relevant person" means, in relation to premises in respect of which there is in force a
premises licence i.
the holder of the premises licence,
ii.
the designated premises supervisor (if any) in respect of such a licence, or
iii.
the personal licence holder who makes or authorises a supply of alcohol under
such a licence;

Details of licence numbered : PREM/02193/012

Page 18

Page 4 of 6

d.

"relevant person" means, in relation to premises in respect of which there is in force a
club premises certificate, any member or officer of the club present on the premises
in a capacity which enables the member or officer to prevent the supply in question;
and

e.

"value added tax" mean value added tax charged in accordance with the Value Added
Tax Act 1994.

Where the permitted price given by Paragraph (b) of paragraph 2 would (apart from this
paragraph) not be a whole number of pennies, the price given by that sub-paragraph shall be
taken to be the price actually given by that sub-paragraph rounded up to the nearest penny.
(1)

Sub-paragraph (2) applies where the permitted price given by Paragraph (b) of
paragraph 2 on a day ("the first day") would be different from the permitted price on
the next day ("the second day") as a result of a change to the rate of duty or value
added tax.

(2)

The permitted price which would apply on the first day applies to sales or supplies of
alcohol which take place before the expiry of the period of 14 days beginning on the
second day.

Annex 2 – Conditions consistent with the operating schedule
Additional details in respect of licensable activities authorised by this licence
Provision of late night refreshment
Location of activity:

Both indoors and outdoors

Performance of a play
Location of activity:

Both indoors and outdoors

Exhibition of a film
Location of activity:

Both indoors and outdoors

Performance of live music
Location of activity:

Both indoors and outdoors

Performance of recorded music
Location of activity:

Both indoors and outdoors

Performance of dance
Location of activity:

Both indoors and outdoors

Entertainment similar to live music, recorded music or dance
Location of activity:

Both indoors and outdoors

All activities
Non standard timings:

The times and dates of licensable activities will be
submitted and agreed within the Multi Agency forum at
least 6 months prior to the festival or such lesser period as
agreed from time to time within the multi-agency forum.

Details of licence numbered : PREM/02193/012

Page 19

Page 5 of 6

The premises licence is for the on and off sales of alcohol
to ticket holders for 24 hours on the dates which will be
agreed within the multi-agency forum.
The licence also provides for the supply of alcohol to staff
24 hours on the dates which will be submitted and agreed
with the multi-agency forum at least 6 months prior to the
festival each year or such lesser period as agreed from
time to time with the multi-agency forum.
The application for an extension of existing hours from
03:00hrs to 06:00hrs Saturday, Sunday and Monday
submitted in March 2008 applies to the following campsites
only:
Brown/Green campsite DJ
Orange campsite DJ
Yellow Bubble campsite DJ
Blue Valley campsite DJ
Red campsite DJ
Piccadilly campsite DJ
Silent Disco
The location and names of these campsites may be
determined from a site plan submitted each year.
Conditions consistent with the operating schedule relating to the licensing objectives
General – All four licensing objectives
10.

The Premises Licence Holder shall comply with the terms and requirements of the Event
Management Plan each year.

11.

There shall be an Event Management Plan which incorporates the Operating Schedule
submitted to the Licensing Authority at least six months prior to the festival each year.

12.

The Event Management Plan and any revisions to the Event Management Plan must be
approved by the Licensing Authority prior to the Festival

Public safety
13.

The maximum permitted capacity at the event is 85,000 ticket holders and 4999 guests (89999
persons in total). The proposed capacity for each event will form part of the Event
Management Plan notified to the Licensing Authority and the Multi Agency partners under the
conditions of this Licence.

Annex 3 – Conditions attached after a hearing by the licensing authority
None

Details of licence numbered : PREM/02193/012

Page 20

Page 6 of 6

Agenda Item 8
Report author: Andrew White
Tel: 0113 3781561

Taxi & Private Hire Licensing – Results of consultation on suitability (minor
motoring convictions)
Date: 9 August 2022
Report of: Taxi & Private Hire Licensing Manager
Report to: Licensing Committee
Will the decision be open for call in?

☐ Yes ☒ No

Does the report contain confidential or exempt information?

☐ Yes ☒ No

What is this report about?
Including how it contributes to the city’s and council’s ambitions
●

The council has been taking part in regional and national initiatives to review and update
hackney carriage (taxi) and private hire policies and ways of working.

●

One important area of this work has involved the council’s approach to suitability and
whether an individual is a fit and proper person to hold a licence.

●

The council has recently undertaken consultation on changing one of the criteria within the
council’s Suitability and Convictions policy for taxi and private hire licence holders, which
relates to points on individuals’ driving licences for minor motoring convictions.

●

This report sets out the full results of that consultation in Appendices A and B and, reveals a
strong difference of opinion between the responses of the general public and members of
the taxi and private hire trade.

● Licensing Committee are asked to consider the outcome of the consultation and recommend
to Members of Executive Board a proposed way forward using the options set out in
paragraph 38 as a guide:
a) The proposed criterion is approved without further amendment; or
b) The proposed criterion is amended having regard to the consultation responses, setting
out what the amended criterion should be (see paragraph 39 below); or
c) The proposed criterion should not be approved or amended, and that further work is
required to determine a more appropriate criterion.


In relation to option b), and in relation to the consultation responses, Members are advised that
minor amendments such as those seeking to respond to driver concerns and provide further
mitigation measures such as when warnings or training is offered to licence holders can be
recommended to Executive Board for approval.
Page 21





Applications for a new taxi or private hire driver licence will not be granted when an applicant
has 7 or more points for minor motoring convictions showing on their driving licence.
Existing licence holders reaching 7 or more points for minor motoring convictions will receive
a warning and will only be required to attend appropriate training.
Existing licence holders reaching 9 points or more for minor motoring convictions and who
have previously attended training under this policy may have their licence refused or
revoked dependent on the individual circumstances of the driver concerned and offences
committed. In considering such action, the intention of the policy will be to only refuse or
revoke a licence where there are very clear concerns for public safety.

Recommendations
Licensing Committee members are recommended to:
a) Note the outcome of the consultation.
b) Note the supporting information which provides broader context to the implementation of
criteria relating to minor motoring convictions.
c) Consider the options set out in paragraph 38 of this report and make a recommendation to
Executive Board.

Why is the proposal being put forward?
1 In October 2019, the council’s Executive Board approved a Suitability and Convictions policy,
which took effect on 1 February 2020. The policy followed national and regional exploratory
work and consultation to develop common approaches to determine an individual’s suitability to
hold a taxi or private hire licence. The national suitability framework was developed in 2018 by
the Institute of Licensing (IOL), in partnership with the Local Government Association, Lawyers
in Local Government, and the National Association of Licensing and Enforcement Officers. The
regional approach involved the five West Yorkshire authorities and the City of York council
engaging or consulting on a common suitability policy.
2 The aim of these regional developments and the national framework were to introduce greater
consistency to help in ensuring that licensing authorities would use the same approach to
determine whether an individual would be issued with a licence, and if a period of refusal
applied, the same length of refusal would apply across authorities. All of the six West Yorkshire
and York (WY&Y) authorities started their consultation with the table of 15 conviction categories
in the IOL national framework.
3 In line with the IOL national framework, Leeds City Council and the other WY&Y authorities
consulted or engaged on the threshold for refusing a licence at 7 points for minor motoring
convictions i.e. excluding major motoring convictions, which are a separate category. The five
other WY&Y authorities have adopted and implemented policies with the 7 point threshold,
based on the individual’s record for the last 3 years. However, following representation from the
taxi and private hire trade in Leeds, Leeds City Council decided not to implement the criterion
for minor motoring convictions. Instead, the minor motoring convictions criterion from the
council’s previous Convictions policy was retained, allowing the council to refuse or revoke a
licence at 12 points for accumulated minor motoring convictions, whilst a review of the minor
motoring convictions criterion was conducted by a working group drawn from officers and
stakeholders with a cross-section of views.
Page 22

4 The working group concluded its review of minor motoring convictions and recommended the
council consult on a revised criteria for minor motoring convictions. The outcome of this work
resulted in a proposal to set the Leeds City Council standard lower (weaker) than the other
WY&Y authorities and others nationally who have implemented the 7 point threshold. . Since
the WY&Y authorities engaged and consulted in 2018-19, the Department for Transport issued
Statutory Guidance for taxi and private hire licensing, which included a section on suitability,
advising licensing authorities they must have regard to the guidance and have clear and
compelling reasons for departing from the standards in the guidance.
5 The chronology of the different versions of the criteria are listed in the table below to aid clarity:
Version

Wording

Institute of Licensing (2018)

A minor traffic or vehicle related offence is one which does
not involve loss of life, driving under the influence of drink or
drugs, driving whilst using a mobile phone, and has not
resulted in injury to any person or damage to any property
(including vehicles). Where an applicant has 7 or more
points on their DVLA licence for minor traffic or similar
offences, a licence will not be granted until at least 5 years
have elapsed since the completion of any sentence
imposed.

West Yorkshire & York
consultation (2019)

Minor traffic or vehicle related offences – offences which do
not involve loss of life, driving under the influence of drink or
drugs, driving whilst using a hand-held telephone or other
device and has not resulted in injury to any person or
damage to any property (including vehicles) resulting in 7 or
more points on a DVLA licence. 3 years

Leeds City Council criteria
retained from previous
Convictions policy (2020)

Convictions for minor traffic offences… should not prevent
you from proceeding with an application or holding a licence.
However, if the number of current points on your DVLA
licence exceeds 12 points then your application will be
refused or the current licence suspended or revoked. A
further application will not be approved until the DVLA
licence demonstrates that the number of current points on
the licence is below 13 points.

Leeds City Council
Consultation (2021)

Applications for a new taxi or private hire driver licence be
refused when an applicant has 7 or more points for minor
convictions showing on their driving licence;
Existing licence holders reaching 7 or 8 points for minor
convictions will receive a warning and may be required to
attend training; and
Existing licence holders reaching 9 or more points for minor
convictions may have their licence refused or revoked.

6 The council, as licensing authority, has the responsibility to ensure that taxi and private hire
licence holders are safe and suitable to hold a licence. Passengers place a great deal of trust
in their taxi and private hire operators and drivers and they are entitled to expect that operators
and drivers meet high standards. In making decisions about the granting and renewal of
licences, the council establishes the licence holder as someone who can be trusted to convey
Page 23

the passenger from A to B in safety, having regard to the fact that passengers can be
vulnerable for a variety of reasons. The council’s current scheme of sub-delegation gives
officers the powers to revoke or refuse a licence.
7 Under law, the licensing authority has the legal responsibility to refuse a licence to an applicant,
or to take the licence away from an individual, when it does not believe that person is suitable to
hold a licence. The national and regional developments towards aligned policies make clear
that driving record is relevant to whether a person is fit and proper, and also sets expectations
that licensing authorities will only depart from national guidance where there are clear and
compelling reasons to do so
8 In 2021 the Licensing Committee set up a Working Group, formed of three councillors, trade
representatives, stakeholders/passengers groups and supported by officers. Following a delay
owing to Covid, the Working Groups met twice in March 2021, and recommended that Members
of Executive Board consult on a revised criterion for minor motoring convictions as follows:
● Applications for a taxi or private hire driver licence be refused when an applicant has 7 or
more points for minor convictions showing on their driving licence;
● Existing licence holders reaching 7 or 8 points for minor convictions will receive a warning
and may be required to attend training; and
● Existing licence holders reaching 9 or more points for minor convictions may have their
licence refused or revoked.
9 Executive Board approved the criterion for consultation in September 2021, and the council
carried out the consultation during October and November 2021. The method and results of the
consultation are summarised in this report and presented in detail in Appendices A and B
attached.
What impact will this proposal have?
Wards affected:
Have ward members been consulted?

☒ Yes

☐ No

10 The criterion consulted upon (refuse new applications at 7 points, train existing drivers at 7-8
points, and revoke from 9 points) would affect the way in which applicants in the taxi and private
hire trade in Leeds, and existing licence holders would be assessed on their suitability to hold a
licence. Minor motoring convictions and driving licence endorsements are the most common
issue the licensing authority will have to consider in determining whether an individual is
suitable to hold a taxi or private hire licence. This reflects the importance of safe driving and
avoiding speeding to an individual’s suitability to hold a taxi or private hire licence.
11 The criterion consulted upon would bring Leeds City Council more into alignment with the other
WY&Y authorities than its current position. However, Licensing Committee members will note
that our criterion would still not be as stringent as originally proposed in 2020, and would not
wholly align with the policies adopted by other WY&Y authorities, who would continue to have a
stricter policy in place in respect of existing licence holders. However, in relation to new
applicants it would fully align Leeds with the other WY&Y authorities.
12 As of July 2022, 1015 out of 6019 drivers licensed in Leeds, (17%), had declared points to the
licensing authority. This means that 83% of taxi and private hire drivers have zero points on
their licence, recognising the positive standards adopted by the overwhelming majority of taxi
and private hire drivers in Leeds. Of the drivers with points on their licence, 718 have 3 points,
and 943 have 3-6 points. Only 72, just over 1% of all taxi and private hire drivers, have 7 or
more points. As shown in the table below there is a concentration of drivers with points at 3 and
Page 24

6 points, and to a lesser degree, 9 points, indicating that the majority of minor motoring
convictions impose 3 penalty points.
Points

Private Hire Driver

Hackney Carriage
Driver

Total

3

612

106

718

4

10

1

11

5

6

2

8

6

170

36

206

7

1

1

2

8

13

3

16

9

39

7

46

11

2

2

2

12

4

2

4

15*

0

1

1

16*

1

0

1

13 The current standards, retained from the council’s previous Convictions policy, allow applicants
to start their taxi and private hire career with 12 points on their licence. They also allow licence
holders to retain and renew their licence when they accumulate new points, provided they do
not exceed 12 points. Drivers currently licensed with more than 12 points and indicated with an
asterisk in the table above, will be in the process of appealing against the points issued against
them.
14 The current standards are significantly weaker than the equivalent standard for recruiting bus
drivers, which is a comparable role with a responsibility for ensuring the safety of vulnerable
passengers. Both Arriva and FirstBus have entry criteria which would preclude applicants with
6 points (Arriva) or other driving convictions (FirstBus) on their licence from starting a role as a
bus driver. The council has contacted Arriva and Firstbus, but has not been able to obtain
detailed information about the companies’ provision for existing drivers who accrue minor
motoring convictions, other than being advised that the companies’ internal disciplinary
processes would be invoked, as well as the possibility of the case being referred to the Traffic
Commissioner, which would also be the case for large goods and public contract drivers.
15 The impact of the proposal consulted upon would be:
•
•
•

Applications for a new taxi or private hire driver licence be refused when an applicant has 7
or more points for minor convictions showing on their driving licence;
Existing licence holders reaching 7 or 8 points for minor convictions will receive a warning
and may be required to attend training; and
Existing licence holders reaching 9 or more points for minor convictions may have their
licence refused (at renewal) or revoked.

What consultation and engagement has taken place?
16 Leeds City Council has undertaken significant and extensive engagement and consultation,
both on the broad Suitability & Convictions policy and on the subsequent review of the criterion
for minor motoring convictions.
Page 25

17 The council initially consulted between November 2018 and January 2019 on the draft
Suitability policy, in concert with other WY&Y authorities. However, for the reasons outlined
above, it subsequently developed a working group, formed of a mix of councillors, trade
representatives, stakeholders/passenger groups and supported by officers, to review the
criterion for minor motoring convictions. The working group met twice in 2021 and generated a
revised suitability minor motoring conviction criterion to Executive Board for consultation.
Consultation on the working group proposal:
18 Executive Board approved in September 2021 the consultation on the revised suitability minor
motoring conviction criterion. The council then consulted between October and November 2021
on the proposed criterion. The council promoted the consultation on social media channels,
emailed a link to the survey to 6000+ taxi and private hire licence holders, representatives of
trade groups, representatives of stakeholders and passenger groups (including councillors,
older people, women and girls, people with disabilities, road safety partnership, city centre
partners, school governors). The survey was also sent by post to around 60 licence holders
who did not have a recognised email address for use by the council. Three drop-in meetings
were also organised at Merrion House, but were not well attended. All non-electronic
responses were added to the completed electronic surveys for analysis.
19 The consultation compared the current criterion of 12 points against the proposed criterion to
refuse new applicants at 7 points, train existing drivers at 7-8 points, and revoke from 9 points,
and asked respondents to support or oppose the proposed criterion.
20 The response to the consultation was unprecedented. In total 2275 people responded to the
survey during the consultation period. In particular, the survey generated a much higher
response from licence holders, the general public and stakeholders than previous consultations.
21 The breakdown of responses is set out in the table below and further information is set out in
Appendices A and B. Responses from taxi and private hire drivers, vehicle owners and trade
representatives amounted to 57% of all responses, and responses from passenger
representatives, councillors and the wider public 43%. A small percentage of respondents did
not disclose their role.
Group
Leeds City Council - Councillor
Leeds hackney carriage association/union
Leeds hackney carriage driver
Leeds hackney carriage proprietor
Leeds private hire driver
Leeds private hire group/union representative
Leeds private hire operator
Leeds private hire vehicle proprietor
Member of the public who does not use taxi or
private hire vehicles
Member of the public who uses taxi or private
hire vehicles
Passenger group representative
Stakeholder representative
Undeclared
Total

Count
9
3
173
88
974
7
6
8
93

%
0%
0%
8%
4%
43%
0%
0%
0%
4%

828

37%

19
6
61
2275

1%
0%
3%
100%

22 The council also received a significant number of responses from people, primarily licence
holders, who live outside Leeds. Of these respondents, a majority 671 of these respondents
were licence holders. This is not surprising, as around half of all taxi and private hire licence
Page 26

holders do not live in Leeds. In total, one third, 895 of responses did not answer the question
asking where they lived.
23 Respondents were asked if they supported the proposals (to move from refusing new applicants
at 12 points to refuse at 7 points, train existing drivers at 7-8 points, and revoke from 9 points).
1495 (66.4%) respondents stated that they did not agree with the proposal and 757 (33.6%) did
agree with the proposal.
24 The results show a significant difference between the view of, on one hand, licence holders and
trade representatives, and on the other, stakeholders and the general public. The former were
largely (94%) against the proposal, and the latter largely (71%) in favour, and some of the latter
group objected to the proposal because in their view it is not strict enough. The themes below
show the difference in support by taxi and private hire groups, stakeholders and the general
public, excluding councillors and people who didn’t state their role.
● Of the 756 who responded in favour of the proposal, 674 (89%) were members of the public,
passenger or stakeholder groups, 71 (9%) were licence holders.
● Of the 1481 who responded against the proposal, 1178 (80%) were licence holders, 266
(18%) were members of the public, passenger or stakeholder groups.
25 The detailed responses to the survey also revealed a more complex response, both from
licence holders and from the general public, passenger groups and stakeholders. Respondents
were asked the open question ‘if you do not support the proposed criterion, can you tell us
why?’. The main categories of response are summarised in the table below, including the
respective numbers of responses from licence holders in the taxi and private hire trade and the
public. These categories are drawn from open responses, as some respondents raised more
than one issue in their response.

Theme
A DVLA rules/12 points should apply
B 7/9 point threshold is a risk to
drivers’ livelihoods
C Policy is too unfair or too harsh
D Frequency of driving means taxi
drivers are more at risk of minor
offences
E Misc/other comments
F Existing policy works ok
G Rules do not apply to others
(Bus/HGV/LCC drivers)
H Seriousness of offence(s) need to
be considered
I Disagree because proposal is not
strict enough
J Policy discriminates or is racist
K Passengers cause distractions
which can cause minor driving faults

Count
693
266

HC PH trade
603
224

Public
70
38

212
145

171
115

37
28

129
126
106

92
116
76

34
9
26

52

37

14

47

0

47

42
31

30
28

11
3

Objections and the council’s response
26 The report addresses each response in turn. The two largest themes of response (A and B in
the table above) accounted for 959 comments, though some responses raised both comments.
These respondents were largely (over 88%) licence holders and objected to the proposed
criterion to refuse a new applicant at 7 points, train existing drivers at 7-8 points, and revoke
Page 27

from 9 points, and suggested either that the council should apply DVLA threshold, as long as
drivers weren’t disqualified, they should be allowed to work. They also cited the impact on
drivers’ earnings and livelihoods if they were unable to drive. There are some observations
which follow from these responses, which could form part of the council approach to responding
to the consultation.
● First, these representations were focused on the earnings of existing taxi and private hire
drivers, and did not contain objections to the council setting a threshold of 7 points for new
applicants, which is a key aspect of the national and regional policy harmonisation agenda;
● Second, the respondents’ concern about loss of earnings or family livelihood, while not the
focus of licensing practice, could be alleviated (at least in part), if licence holders could be
satisfied that the warning and driver training would always be applied to existing drivers
reaching 7 points or more, and revocation only applied when a warning or training had been
followed by a further minor motoring conviction at 9 points or more. Although other
respondents referred to driver training in their survey responses, none of these respondents
did, so this point may help to reduce concerns.
● Third, some respondents indicated their belief that licences would be refused or revoked at 6
points, and in some way ‘automatically’. This is incorrect, and the proposal includes a step
to warn and train existing drivers before any revocation would be considered for minor
motoring convictions.
27 It is clear from some responses that many respondents, largely from the taxi and private hire
trade, were not clear as to what would happen when an already licensed driver reached 7 or 8
points. In summary, those respondents were concerned about a ‘revoke first, ask questions
later’ approach, which was not intended by the proposed criterion. Members can be reassured
that the proposals are that all drivers reaching 7 or 8 points will be required to attend training
and receive a warning. While the council does have legal powers to set licensing regulations
more strictly than for the general public, reviewing a licence holder with points for minor
motoring convictions would always consider how that driver could be brought into compliance
without immediately or ‘automatically’ revoking their licence. This would include a warning and
training, and revocation or refusal at renewal would only be considered for subsequent minor
motoring convictions at 9 points where drivers had already received warnings and training. The
concerns raised by respondents are, therefore, already fully addressed although it is
appreciated providing greater clarity on this point would be helpful.
28 The next largest group of themes (C, D, F and G in the table in paragraph 25) accounted for
589 comments, though some respondents raised more than one issue. These respondents
accounted for 81% from taxi and private hire licence holders who claimed that the proposed
criterion was unfair (without referring to earnings or DVLA) and that equivalent criteria are not
applied to other driving roles outside of the taxi and private hire trade. It should be recognised
that taxi and private hire drivers are in a unique position of control over their passengers and
therefore more stringent checks are required than may apply to other drivers, to ensure that
people are and remain fit and proper. The council has checked with Arriva and Firstbus,
relating to bus drivers, and with the Traffic Commissioner for drivers of larger and public service
vehicles. Arriva and Firstbus have entry level criteria relating to driving standard, and the Traffic
Commissioner has standards for vocational drivers. In addition, employers will also have
internal disciplinary standards and measures, which they have not been able to share with the
council.
29 A third group of comments (H, J and K from the table), 95 in total, and with 77% from taxi or
private hire trade, said that the proposed minor motoring convictions criteria did not take into
account the seriousness of the motoring offence, that the criteria are racist or discriminatory, or
that the driver could acquire points by being distracted by their passengers. In response, while
minor motoring convictions are by definition at the lower end of motoring convictions, and do not
Page 28

involve injury, repeated minor motoring convictions do indicate that a person’s standard of
driving is not as high as it should be. The council does note that a majority of taxi and private
hire licences are held by people with a Black and Minority Ethnicity (BAME), however, this
criterion applies equally across all licence holders. An Equality and Diversity Impact
Assessment has been completed, identifying the protected characteristics of both drivers and
passengers, for example people with a mobility need or disability, who statistically take more
taxi and private hire journeys. The council also notes that passengers can behave in ways to
distract their driver, but it always remains the driver’s responsibility to drive the vehicle in a safe
manner.
30 Fourth, a small group of respondents (47, 100% not from the taxi and private hire trade),
objected to the proposed criteria because in their view they do not go far enough in ensuring
passenger safety. The council recognises these concerns, which was the reasons for the
previous proposal (in 2014) to implement a more stringent standard, in line with the Institute of
Licensing framework, and the subsequent Department for Transport statutory guidance.
However, feedback against the proposal had led the council to review the criterion as set out
elsewhere in this report.
31 In progressing this review, the council contacted all 284 licensing authorities in England and
Wales, and 85 responded to our request in February and March 2022. A list of the authorities
responding is provided in Appendix B. While the council does not have information for all
licensing authorities, the response is considered a good representative sample, and confirms
the following. 69 (81%) authorities have implemented a suitability policy and 72 (85%) have
criteria for assessing minor motoring convictions.
32 33 authorities had implemented the IOL/DfT standard 7 points for both applicants and existing
licence holders. Of the 39 who had not implemented the 7 points in its entirety, there was a
range of criteria, from those who explained their policy. The following corresponded very
closely to the IOL/DfT recommended standard, and the proposed criterion: •

3 authorities refused a licence to applicants and existing licence holders above 6 points;

•

9 authorities refused applicants with 6-8 points (8 chose 6 points, 1 chose 8 points) and
revoked existing licence holders at 9 points, similar to Leeds City Council proposal);

•

1 authority refused a licence to applicants and existing licence holders above 8 points;

•

7 authorities refused a licence to applicants and existing licence holders above 9 points;

•

1 authority refused a licence if two minor convictions in two years; and

•

1 authority refused a licence if three minor convictions in three years.

33 A small number of authorities (13) had a policy for minor motoring convictions differing
significantly from the IOL/DfT standard 7 points, although some authorities stated that they
planned to review the policy and would refer to the IOL framework.
•

7 authorities had no points criteria and judged every case for applicants and existing licence
holder on its merits, more severely for multiple minor convictions;

•

1 authority refused a licence to applicants and existing licence holders above 3 points;

•

1 authority refused a licence unless 1 year free of minor convictions;

•

1 authority refused a licence unless five years had elapsed since disqualification; and

•

3 authorities refused an applicant and existing licence holder at 12 points (Leeds City
Council current criterion).

Page 29

34 The feedback from other licensing authorities indicated a range of adherence and departure
from the IOL/DfT minor motoring convictions criterion which the council and WY&Y authorities
originally consulted on. Only three authorities had aligned their minor motoring convictions
criterion with the DVLA disqualification threshold of 12 points. The vast majority of authorities
had either aligned with the IOL/DfT standard of 7 points, or set the level just above or below
(e.g. 6 or 8 points), or some variation on the added training, panel or review for existing licence
holders before revocation.
35 In conclusion, the results of the consultation are complex. Above all, they indicate a significant
disparity between the views of the public (i.e. customers) and the taxi and private hire trade on
what the expected threshold should be for refusing a licence and potentially revoking a licence.
71% of the public responded in support of the proposed standard, with a further 5% of the
public responding opposing the standard because it is not strict enough. Conversely, 94% of
licence holders objected to the proposed standard and many stated that they did not feel they
should be treated any differently from the normal motorist.
36 The council can conclude the following: •

There is strength of feeling in the taxi and private hire trade that the proposed suitability
criterion for minor motoring convictions, which are already in place in a majority of licensing
authorities in England and Wales, should not apply to Leeds licence holders; and

•

There is a significant opinion in the wider public that the proposed suitability criterion for
minor motoring convictions, which are already in place in a majority of licensing authorities,
should apply to Leeds licence holders;

Options in response to the consultation:
37 Given the complex findings of the consultation, Licensing Committee members must consider
what to recommend to Executive Board in order to progress this matter. In doing so, they must
have regard to statutory and other guidance from the Department of Transport, as well as the
background work and context which resulted in the formulation of the proposals subject to
consultation. Members also have to consider the representations made as part of the
consultation as set out in Appendix B of this report.
38 Having regard to all the above, the options for Licensing Committee include recommending one
of the following:
a) The proposed criterion is approved without further amendment;
b) The proposed criterion is amended having regard to the consultation responses, setting out
what the amended criterion should be (see paragraph 39 below); or
c) The proposed criterion should not be approved or amended, and that further work is
required to determine a more appropriate criterion.
39 In relation to option b), and in relation to the consultation responses, Members are advised that
minor amendments such as those seeking to respond to driver concerns and provide further
mitigation measures such as when warnings or training is offered to licence holders can be
recommended to Executive Board for approval. The specific proposals could be amended from
those consulted upon to state the following and summarised in the flowcharts in Appendix C:
●

●

Applications for a new taxi or private hire driver licence will not be granted when an
applicant has 7 or more points for minor motoring convictions showing on their driving
licence.
Existing licence holders reaching 7 or more points for minor motoring convictions will
receive a warning and will only be required to attend appropriate training.
Page 30

●

Existing licence holders reaching 9 points or more for minor motoring convictions and
who have previously attended training under this policy may have their licence refused or
revoked dependent on the individual circumstances of the driver concerned and offences
committed. In considering such action, the intention of the policy will be to only refuse or
revoke a licence where there are very clear concerns for public safety.

What are the resource implications?
40 There are minor resource implications of adopting and implementing a higher standard for
applicants and current licence holders.
41 It is possible that the council, as licensing authority, would provide a higher number of warnings
and remedial training, for licence holders reaching 7 or 8 points on their driving licence for minor
motoring convictions and as an alternative to revocation. The work can be resourced from
within the Taxi and Private Hire Licensing service, with a monthly training session providing
capacity for between 100 and 120 delegates.
42 In the longer term, it is possible that the council as licensing authority could receive fewer
complaints for investigation about the standard of driving by taxi and private hire drivers. This
may free up some capacity within the Taxi and Private Hire Licensing service to concentrate on
other licensing priorities.
What are the legal implications?
43 The Council is under a legal obligation to have regard to the DfT statutory guidance unless
there is a compelling local reason to depart from any part of it. That guidance sets out some
minimum standards for drivers in relation to criminal convictions. The IoL framework of
recommended minimum standards, which is best practice but not obligatory, mirrors those in
the statutory guidance but adds a number of other standards to be applied. In respect of minor
motoring convictions both the statutory guidance and IoL framework provide that a single
occurrence of a minor traffic offence may not necessitate the refusal or revocation of a licence.
The IoL framework goes further, suggesting 7+ points on a driving licence may lead to refusal or
revocation.
44 If pursued, option (a) would be fully in line with the IoL framework and be compliant with the
statutory guidance. Option (b) would be compliant with the statutory guidance, which doesn’t fix
a maximum number of permitted points, but would be out of step with the IoL best practice
framework. Option (c) would leave the existing policy in place which is technically compliant
with the statutory guidance but is even further from established best practice in the IoL
framework. The Institute of Licensing framework now forms part of the DfT’s statutory guidance
to licensing authorities, which the council must have regard to when considering suitability
criteria and other licensing policies.
45 The Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976 sections 47, 48, 51, 55 and 57
permits the licensing authority to attach conditions to a taxi or private hire licence over and
above those for the general public. The Policing and Crime Act 2017 section 177 permits the
secretary of State to issue guidance to public authorities as to how their licensing functions
under taxi and private hire legislation may be exercised so as to protect children and vulnerable
individuals who are 18 or over, from harm. The same Act also requires a public authority which
has licensing functions under taxi and private hire legislation to have regard to any guidance
issued under the Act.
46 A full Equality, Diversity, Cohesion and Integration Assessment for the proposal has been
completed. When deciding whether to recommend the proposal for approval, the council has to
comply with the Public Sector Equality Duty.
Page 31

Equalities implications:
47 Section 149 of the Equality Act 2010 sets out the Public Sector Equality Duty, whereby a public
authority must, in the exercise of its functions, have due regard to the need to:
a) Eliminate discrimination, harassment, victimisation and any other conduct prohibited by
the Act.
b) Advance equality of opportunity between persons who share a relevant protected
characteristic and persons who do not share it.
c) Foster good relations between persons who share a relevant protected characteristic and
persons who do not share it.
With regard to b) above, due regard must be given to the need to:
d) Remove or minimise disadvantages suffered by persons who share a relevant protected
characteristic that are connected to that characteristic.
e) Take steps to meet the needs of who share a relevant protected characteristic that are
different from the needs of persons who do not share it.
f) Encourage persons who share a relevant protected characteristic to participate in public
life or in any other activity in which participation by such persons is disproportionately
low.
g) The relevant protected characteristics include age, disability, gender reassignment,
pregnancy and maternity, religion or belief, sexual orientation.
48 The duty is not a duty to achieve a result, but a duty to have due regard to the need to achieve
the goals in section 149. The courts have also made it clear that the weight and extent of the
duty is highly fact sensitive and dependent on individual judgment, and that is for the decision
maker to decide how much weight should be given to the various factors informing their
decision.
49 As part of the decision-making process, the council has given due consideration to the issues
raised and taken into account the feedback received. As part of the proposal, there will be
impacts on all stakeholders which have been evaluated and mitigated where possible.
50 Members have a personal duty to consider this duty when making their decision, and they
cannot be considered to automatically know what officers want or know what may have been in
the minds of officers in providing their advice. Members must assess the risk and extent of any
adverse impact and the ways in which such risk may be eliminated before making their
decision. The duty must be exercised in substance, with rigour, and with an open mind, and it
must not be simply a case of ‘ticking boxes’.
51 A general regard to issues of equality is not the same as having specific regard, by way of a
conscious approach to the statutory criteria of the legislation. In addition, the duty requires
members to be properly informed before taking a decision, and if the relevant material is not
available, there is a duty to acquire it, and this includes consultation with appropriate groups in
some circumstances, in the case of these proposals, an extensive consultation exercise has
taken place.
What are the key risks and how are they being managed?
52 The principal risk being addressed by the proposed criterion, is reducing the risk to the
travelling public and other road users posed by licence holders with multiple convictions for
minor motoring offences. Lowering the threshold for new applicants from 12 to 7 points would
Page 32

allow the licensing authority to refuse to licence applicants with multiple recent convictions for
minor motoring offences from obtaining a licence in Leeds.
53 A secondary risk is the possible reduction in the numbers of applicants and loss of existing
drivers, if applicants and existing licence holders opt not to work in the taxi and private hire
trade as a result of the council implementing the proposed criterion. This would impact on a
Leeds taxi and private hire trade which has lost 300 from around 6000 drivers in the past 2
years. Feedback to the council from private hire operators and taxi associations has indicated
that they have found it difficult to source drivers who can often earn as much working in delivery
roles. However, this risk can be alleviated by extending and developing driver training and
assessment provision in line with increased demand.
54 A third risk, if the proposals are not recommended for approval, (thus retaining the 12 points
criterion), is the impact on Leeds from the differential in standards between Leeds and
neighbouring authorities. As all other WY&Y authorities, and based on our engagement with
licensing authorities, a majority of licensing authorities in England and Wales have implemented
a criterion at or around 7 points, then Leeds with a ‘weaker’ lower standards policy, could
become a more attractive location for applicants or other drivers who are unable to obtain a
licence elsewhere due to their lower driving standards.
Does this proposal support the council’s three Key Pillars?
☐ Inclusive Growth

☒ Health and Wellbeing

☐ Climate Emergency

55 The proposed criterion aligns with the council’s priorities for Health and Wellbeing. It places a
priority on public and passenger safety.

Options, timescales and measuring success
What other options were considered?
56 The option to retain permanently the 12 point criterion for minor motoring convictions (from the
previous Convictions policy) was considered by the working group, Licensing Committee and
Executive Board, but not agreed as a recommendation for consultation. Retaining a 12 point
criterion for minor motoring convictions would, as has been discussed above, mean the council
had one of the weakest standards on this aspect of taxi and private hire licensing.
How will success be measured?
57 The council’s Annual Licensing Report provides comparative measurable information on the
level and type of complaints, suspended and revoked/refused licences. Successful
implementation of the new criterion should result in fewer drivers having a higher level of points
on their driving licences, and fewer complaints about driving standard (currently among the
higher level of complaints), accounting for around 10% of complaints to the council. This would
be an indication that the standard of driving has improved.
58 The implementation of the proposed criterion would provide some confidence that only the
safest, as judged by their driving record, of taxi and private hire drivers can renew their licence
in Leeds.
What is the timetable for implementation?
59 If option a) is recommended by August Licensing Committee and approved at September
Executive Board, the new criterion for minor motoring convictions would take effect from 1
October 2022, and will align the council to the national standard developed by the Institute of
Page 33

Licensing, in partnership with the Local Government Association, Lawyers in local Government
and the National Association of Licensing and Enforcement Officers. If option b) is
recommended by August Licensing Committee and approved at September Executive Board,
the new criterion for minor motoring convictions would take effect from 1 November 2022, and
the council would still vary from the national standard. If option c) is recommended by
Licensing Committee, then the council will follow the respective timetables for further
consultation.
Appendices
Appendix A Summary of consultation responses and sample questionnaire
Appendix B Comments/objections, and the council’s response
Appendix C Application, Renewal, Training, Decision flowchart
Background papers
Report to Executive Board, September 2021 Taxi and private hire licensing -Proposed new
criterion in Suitability (Convictions) Policy
https://democracy.leeds.gov.uk/documents/g11357/Public%20reports%20pack%2022ndSep-2021%2013.00%20Executive%20Board.pdf?T=10

Report to Licensing Committee, July 2021 Taxi and private hire licensing - Proposal to Amend
Minor Driving Convictions Criteria within the Suitability and Convictions Policy 2020
https://democracy.leeds.gov.uk/documents/g11471/Public%20reports%20pack%2006th-Jul2021%2010.00%20Licensing%20Committee.pdf?T=10

Report to Executive Board, October 2019 Taxi and private hire licensing - Proposed Suitability
(Convictions) Policy for Taxi and Private Hire
https://democracy.leeds.gov.uk/documents/g9772/Public%20reports%20pack%2016th-Oct2019%2013.00%20Executive%20Board.pdf?T=10

Report to Licensing Committee, September 2019 Taxi and private hire licensing - Taxi & Private
Hire Licensing – Proposed Suitability Policy
https://democracy.leeds.gov.uk/documents/g9677/Public%20reports%20pack%2003rd-Sep2019%2011.00%20Licensing%20Committee.pdf?T=10

Institute of Licensing, May 2018, Guidance on determining the suitability of applicants and
licensees in the hackney and private hire trades
https://www.instituteoflicensing.org/documents/Guidance_on_Suitability_Web_Version_(16
_May_2018).pdf

Arriva recruitment site:
Join the Arriva Bus Family | Arriva Bus UK
Page 34

Firstbus recruitment site:
Bus driver jobs - apply now! | Leeds | First Bus

Traffic Commissioner statutory document for vocational drivers:
Statutory Document 6 - vocational driver conduct - GOV.UK (www.gov.uk)

Department for Transport Penalty points and endorsement codes:
Penalty points (endorsements): Endorsement codes and penalty points - GOV.UK (www.gov.uk)

Page 35

Appendix A Summary of Consultation – Suitability (minor motoring convictions) and sample
questionnaire

1 a) Consultation Overview
The consultation ran from 5 October to 15 November 2021. The Council’s guidance suggests that
consultation schemes should run for a minimum of 2 weeks. The consultation ran for 6 weeks.
The consultation consisted of a city-wide campaign to contact 6000+ licence holders and trade
representatives, the general public, representatives of more than 100 passenger and vulnerable
passenger groups, to get a wide range of responses.
The consultation consisted of a variety of electronic, paper and face to face events. Licence
holders, trade representatives, representatives from stakeholder groups, and councillors were
contacted by email by Taxi and Private hire Licensing. 60 licence holders who had not registered
an email address with the council for licensing purposes were contacted in writing and provided
with paper surveys. Three face to face events were booked for function rooms at Merrion House,
but were not well attended.
The consultation was publicised on the council’s Consultation and Feedback web page,
https://www.leeds.gov.uk/consultations-and-feedback, Facebook and Twitter. All were provided
with a link to the taxi and private hire consultation section of the Consultation and Feedback area of
the Council’s website.

1 b) Consultation Questions
Leeds City Council is consulting on a change to the Taxi and Private Hire Suitability (Convictions)
Policy relating to Minor Traffic or Vehicle related Offences
On 22nd September 2021 the Council's Executive Board agreed to consult on a new standard in
the Taxi and Private Hire Suitability (Convictions) Policy relating to Minor Traffic or Vehicle related
offences.
What does this mean?
Leeds City Council has a legal responsibility to protect the public and others who use (or can be
affected by) Hackney Carriage and Private Hire services. Part of this duty is to make sure taxi and
private hire drivers, among other licence holders, are 'fit and proper' people for the role. This
includes having a good driving record. Currently, people who apply for, or hold a taxi or private hire
licence, can be granted a licence by the Council even if they have up to 12 points on their DVLA
driving licence
The Council revised its Suitability (Convictions) Policy in February 2020, bringing Leeds City
Council standards into line with five neighbouring authorities and many more across the UK.
However, the standard relating to minor traffic or vehicle related offences was objected to by
drivers, leading to further consideration of it.
The new standard
Following a long consultation with stakeholders and further work the Council's Licensing Committee
have recommended and Executive Board have agreed that the public should be consulted on the
following new standard
(i) Applications for a taxi or private hire driver licence be refused when an applicant has 7 or more
points for minor convictions showing on their driving licence;
Page 36

(ii) Existing licence holders reaching 7 or 8 points for minor convictions will receive a warning and
may be required to attend training; and
(iii) Existing licence holders reaching 9 or more points for minor convictions may have their licence
refused or revoked.
Note: When a driver is convicted of an offence by a court, they may have penalty points put on their
DVLA drivers' lícence. Minor motoring offences usually stay on a licence for 3 years. A driver who
accumulates 12 penalty points, usually from different events, is likely to be disqualified from driving.
Commonly known as totting-up.

Tell us what you think.
The council is asking for the public including drivers and passengers to comment on this change so
it of everyone before deciding whether to approve it as part of the Taxi and Private Hire Suitability
(Convictions) Policy.

Q 1 Do you support the change?
Yes or No
lf you answered No, please say why not and tell us what change you think would be better

Q2 About you
Please provide your name, address and email (if you have one). lf you wish to remain anonymous
you can.
Q3 To help us understand who is responding please tick ONE of the boxes below which best
describes yourself:
1. Leeds private hire driver
2. Leeds private hire vehicle proprietor
3. Leeds private hire operator
4. Leeds private hire union representative
5. Leeds hackney carriage driver
6. Leeds hackney carriage proprietor
7. Leeds hackney carriage association union
8. Member of the public who uses taxi or private hire vehicles
9 Member of the public who does not use taxi or private hire vehicles
10. Leeds City Council - Councillor
11. Passenger representative
12. Stakeholder representative
13. Other (Please state)

Page 37

Q4 Equality information
Leeds City Council is committed to fair treatment of all our existing and potential customers, our
existing and potential employees, and our partners. We are committed to ensuring that our
practices and services are free from unlawful discrimination and they meet the needs of all sections
of the community.
We would appreciate it if you could complete the equality monitoring questions below. This will help
us in monitoring the fairness and effectiveness of our service delivery and employment practices
and to develop future policies and services. You are under no obligation to provide the information
requested and it will not make any difference to the service you receive if you do not answer them.
However, the more information we can collect the more effective our equality monitoring will be.
The categories included have been informed by the National Census 2011 and characteristics
protected by equality legislation as well as other questions that are relevant to local communities in
Leeds.
The information you supply will be used for monitoring and reporting purposes around the fairness
and effectiveness of our service delivery and employment practices only. You will not be identified
in any statistics that the council publishes. The information you supply will be treated in the strictest
confidence and will be held in accordance with the GDPR and Data Protection Act 2018. If we need
to share any information with a third party, we will make sure the same levels of protection are in
place.
Sex and gender identity:
Male (including Trans Male)
Female (including Trans Female)
Non-Binary
Other (please write below)

………………………………..
I prefer not to say
ls your gender the same as the sex you were assigned at birth?
Yes
No
I prefer not to say

Date of birth: ……………………
l prefer not to say

Ethnic origin:
Please indicate which best describes your ethnic origin
A White

B Mixed/ multiple ethnic
group
Page 38

C Asian or Asian British

English

White and Asian

Bangladeshi

Welsh

White and Black African

Chinese

Scottish

White and Black
Caribbean

Indian

Northern Irish

Kashmiri

British

Pakistani

Irish
Any other White background
- please write below

…………………………………

D Black or Black British

Any other mixed or
multiple ethnic group please write below

Any other Asian
background - please write
below

……………………………
.

………………………………
.

E Other ethnic groups

African

Arab

Caribbean

Gypsy or

Any other Black background please write below

Any other group - please
write below

…………………………………
.

……………………………

I prefer not to say

Disability
Do you consider yourself to be disabled?
Yes
No
I prefer not to say

If you have said yes, you consider yourself to be disabled, what is the nature of your impairment?
Physical impairment, (such as using a wheelchair to get around or difficulty using your arms)
Visual impairment, (such as being blind or partially sighted)
Hearing impairment, (such as being or hard of hearing)
Mental health condition, (such as depression or schizophrenia)
Page 39

Learning disability, (such as Downs syndrome or dyslexia) or cognitive impairment (such as
autism or head injury)
Long-standing illness or health condition, (such as cancer, HlV, diabetes, chronic heart
disease, or epilepsy)
I prefer not to say

Sexual orientation
Please indicate which best describes your sexual orientation
(Please note: if you are under the age of 16 years old you do not have to complete this section)
Heterosexual/ straight
Lesbian/ Gay woman
Gay man
Bisexual
Other please specify
…………………………..
I prefer not to say

Religion or belief
Please indicate which best describes your religion or belief
Buddhist
Christian
Hindu
Jewish
Muslim
Sikh
No religion
No belief
Other - please write below
………………………………..
I prefer not to say

Page 40

Carers
The council considers that a 'carer' is someone who provides care for a relative, neighbour or friend
who is dependent on them because they cannot manage without their help because of physical or
mental ill-health, disability, frailty, sensory impairment, old age or substance misuse.
ln the context of employment, a 'working carer' is someone who balances these unpaid caring
responsibilities with full or part-time employment.
Please indicate whether you consider yourself to be a carer
Yes
No
I prefer not to say

Where you live
What is the first part of your postcode? (for example, LS10): …………
I prefer not to say

Thank you for completing the survey

1 c) Analysis of survey results
Respondents
A total of 2275 people responded to the survey during the survey period. This section details the
demographic profile, location and type of respondents. Where possible it has been compared to the
population of Leeds.
Demographics
Note that these questions were optional, and some respondents did not answer all questions,
therefore the totals may not exactly match other figures in this report. In addition, those who
selected ‘prefer not to say’ are excluded from the figures and percentages.
Survey
% Valid
% Leeds Residents -Census
Respondents Respondents
2011
Age/
years

Under 18
18 - 29
30 - 44
45 - 64
65+
Sex
Female
Male
Non-binary/Other
Ethnicity BAME

1
62
599
820
231
363
1555
20
1307
Page 41

0%
4%
35%
48%
13%
19%
80%
1%
63%

27%
26%
29%
18%
52%
48%
17%

Residents of
Leeds, aged 18
and over only

White: British
Disability Yes
No
Sexuality Heterosexual /
Straight
LGBT+
Religion No religion or belief
Christian
Other religion or
belief

763
117

37%
6%

83%
8%

1808

94%

92%

1476

95%

90%

81
396
385

5%
20%
19%

10%
30%
60%

1213

61%

10%

All Leeds
Residents - day to
day activities
limited a lot
Estimate – LCC
(not available in the
last Census)
Residents of
Leeds, aged 18
and over only

Groups
Respondents were asked to state whether they are a driver, proprietor, councillor or member of the
public. The tables below show the number of responses from each group. Respondents could only
select one option for this question.
All Groups
Group
Leeds City Council - Councillor
Leeds hackney carriage association/union
Leeds hackney carriage driver
Leeds hackney carriage proprietor
Leeds private hire driver
Leeds private hire group/union representative
Leeds private hire operator
Leeds private hire vehicle proprietor
Member of the public who does not use taxi or private hire
vehicles
Member of the public who uses taxi or private hire vehicles
Passenger group representative
Stakeholder representative

Count
9
3
173
88
974
7
6
8
93

As %
0%
0%
8%
4%
44%
0%
0%
0%
4%

828
19
6

37%
1%
0%

Drivers and Public
This table groups responses from the public (including councillors) and drivers/proprietors.
Group
Driver/Proprietor
Public/Cllrs

Count
1259
955

As %
57%
43%

Local Authority
Respondents were asked to provide their postal code to understand which local authority they live
in. Where a postcode was provided, the following table shows the local authority of where
respondents were located.
Authority
Leeds

Count
1447

As %
64%
Page 42

Bradford
Unknown
Kirklees
Wakefield
Calderdale
Sheffield
Greater Manchester
York
Dacorum
Derby
East Riding
Middlesbrough
Newcastle
Pendle

388
254
111
43
17
4
3
2
1
1
1
1
1
1

17%
11%
5%
2%
1%
0%
0%
0%
0%
0%
0%
0%
0%
0%

Do you support the change?
After explaining the proposal in detail, the main question asked in this survey was whether or not
they support the change.
Overall
In total 34% of people supported the change, and 66% did not.

Support by ethnicity
Respondents were asked for their ethnicity. These have been grouped into White: British and
BAME. The tables below show to level of support by ethnic groups, where this information was
provided.
There is a significant difference in opinion between those from a White: British background and
those from an ethnic minority background. Those from a BAME background account for 63% of
overall respondents.

Page 43

Support by age
Respondents were asked to provide their date of birth. Where provided respondents were grouped
into broader age groups. Dates that were clearly incorrect (for example the current year) were
removed.
Those over 65 years old are much more likely to support the proposal than younger respondents.

Support by groups
The chart below shows the difference in support based on private drivers, hackney cab drivers, and
the public. This shows that over two thirds of the public support this, private and Hackney carriage
drivers/proprietors strongly oppose this proposal at a similar level.

Page 44

The following chart shows support for the proposal for drivers only, grouped by ethnicity. This
shows that although both groups do not support the change, it is much higher in BAME
respondents.

Page 45

Appendix 2 Comments/objections and the council’s response – Suitability (minor motoring
convictions)
2 a) Comments/objections
Those who said that they disagree with the proposal were asked to provide further detail on why
they disagreed. In total 1381 people provided a response, with 1338 of the comments stating that
they disagree.
To understand the overall sentiment, each comment was reviewed and categorised into broader
themes. A single comment can fall into several themes. In total 1338 respondents who disagree
made comments covering 1849 different themes. The categorisation of the theme is the opinion of
the analyst.
Note that one of the themes below are respondents who disagree with the change as they feel it
should be stricter than the one proposed.
Theme
DVLA Rules/12 points should apply
It is a risk to people’s livelihoods
Policy is too unfair or too harsh
Frequency means more at risk of minor offenses
Misc/other comments (see below)
Existing policy works ok
Rules do not apply to others (Bus/HGV/LCC drivers)
Seriousness of offence(s) need to be considered
Disagree because proposal is not harsh enough
Policy discriminates or is racist
Passengers cause distractions which can cause minor
faults

Count
693
266
212
145
129
126
106
52
47
42
31

As %
37%
14%
11%
8%
7%
7%
6%
3%
3%
2%
2%

Do you support the change? If you answered No, please say why not and tell us what change you
think would be better
Officers’ responses are summarised here.
Response/objection
DVLA rules/12 points should
apply

Officer response
The council’s existing policy does allow licence holders with 12
points accumulated for minor motoring convictions to continue to
be licensed.
The fact that an individual has accumulated points for repeated
minor motoring convictions does suggest that their driving
standard is worthy of review. Nationally and in West Yorkshire,
licensing authorities have been setting a higher standard for taxi
and private hire drivers than general motorists, owing to the
vulnerability of many people who use taxis and private hire
vehicles, and the fact that they regularly put their safety in the
hands of their driver.
The criterion consulted on ‐ 7 points for applicants, training at 7‐8
points and considering revocation at 9 points and above was
viewed by the working group set up by the council and endorsed
by Executive Board as a proposal as striking the right approach for
determining whether someone is suitable to work as taxi and
Page 46

Response/objection

Officer response
private hire driver. Officers remain of the view, for the reasons set
out above, that there is real need to introduce criteria which go
beyond that applied by the DVLA, i.e. apply a more stringent
standard than 12 points.

7/9 point threshold is a risk to
drivers’ livelihoods

The criterion consulted on ‐ 7 points for applicants, training at 7‐8
points and considering revocation at 9 points and above ‐ was
viewed by the working group set up by the council and endorsed
by Executive Board as a proposal as striking the right approach for
determining whether someone is suitable to work as a taxi or
private hire driver and showing a level of discretion for people
who are already working as taxi and private hire drivers.
The council, whilst working in partnership with the licensed taxi
and private hire trade and other stakeholders, is nevertheless
required to prioritise the safety of the travelling public, over the
livelihoods of drivers. Leeds City Council’s figures show that the
vast majority (over 80%) of drivers have zero points, and most can
continue to work, while not accumulating repeated points for
minor motoring offences.
The criterion consulted upon would immediately affect a small
number of drivers (78) 1.4% of all drivers, who already have 7 or
more points. A further 241 drivers on 4‐6 points, could be
affected by the new criterion if they were to accrue more points
for minor motoring convictions. However, the council has
proposed to work with those drivers to provide additional training
in order to help them maintain their taxi or private hire licence
and not incur further endorsements. On that basis officers find no
evidence to suggest that introduction of the criterion alone will
risk drivers’ livelihoods.

Policy is too unfair or too
harsh

The criterion consulted on ‐ 7 points for applicants, training at 7‐8
points and considering revocation at 9 points and above ‐ was
viewed by the working group set up by the council and endorsed
by Executive Board as a proposal as striking the right approach for
determining whether someone is suitable to work as taxi and
private hire driver, and showing a level of discretion for people
who are already working as taxi and private hire drivers.
People who use taxis and private hire vehicles are entitled to feel
safe when they get into those vehicles, and a relevant aspect of
safety is the standard of driving.
The council has followed the UK national guidance on setting
tighter standards for drivers with convictions for minor motoring
convictions. A large majority of licensing authorities nationally
have already implemented a minor motoring conviction very
similar to that proposed by the council. Officers conclude that the
criterion remains a fair balance then assessed against the
overarching objective to protect public safety
Page 47

Response/objection
Officer response
Frequency of driving means
People who use taxis and private hire vehicles are entitled to feel
taxi drivers are more at risk of safe when they get into those vehicles, and a relevant aspect of
minor offences
their safety is the standard of driving.
The council’s priority is the safety of the travelling public, and not
the livelihoods of drivers. Leeds City Council’s figures show that
the vast majority (over 80%) of drivers have zero points, and most
can continue to work, while not accumulating repeated points for
minor motoring offences.
It is important that taxi and private hire drivers do observe speed
limits and traffic signals, both for their passengers’ safety and for
their own. For those taxi and private hire drivers who drive many
more miles than the general motorist, it is just as important that
they drive safely, as their driving impacts more strongly on
passengers and other road users than motorists driving an
average number of miles.
Existing policy works ok

The council’s previous policy did allow licence holders with 12
points accumulated for minor motoring convictions to continue to
be licensed.
The fact that an individual has accumulated points for repeated
minor motoring convictions does suggest that their driving
standard is worthy of review. Nationally and in West Yorkshire,
authorities have been setting a higher expectation for taxi and
private hire drivers than general motorists, owing to the
vulnerability of many people who use taxis and private hire
vehicles, and the fact that they regularly put their safety in the
hands of their driver.
The criterion consulted on ‐ 7 points for applicants, training at 7‐8
points and considering revocation at 9 points and above was
viewed by the working group set up by the council and endorsed
by Executive Board as a proposal as striking the right approach for
determining whether someone is suitable to work as taxi and
private hire driver.
The Institute of Licensing Guidance states in paragraph 3.30:
‘speeding is dangerous, irrespective of the situation; drink driving
is dangerous, irrespective of the situation; bald tyres are
dangerous, irrespective of the situation. All these behaviours put
the general public at risk

Rules do not apply to others
(Bus/HGV/LCC drivers)

The council recognises that this is a criterion to determine
whether a person is suitable to hold a licence as a taxi or private
hire driver and does not apply to any other driving role.
The council has a legal responsibility to ensure that it is satisfied
that an individual is fit and proper to hold a taxi or private hire
licence. The regulators of other driving professions have their
own method of determining whether bus, lorry or other drivers
Page 48

Response/objection

Officer response
are fit and proper. The council has policies in place for employing
people who drive for the council as part of their role, and has
found bus companies who have equivalent policies in place for
employing drivers, in contrast to the assertion from respondents.
The council asserts that taxi and private hire drivers are in a
unique position of control over their passengers, and that it is
proportionate to have rules in place which scrutinise the driving
records of applicants and licence holders.

Seriousness of offence(s)
need to be considered

The council recognises that the majority of points accrued by
drivers appear to be in multiples of 3, and therefore at the lower
end of the majority of motoring convictions tariffs. The council
has a long term aim of reducing the number of serious and fatal
accidents in Leeds, and minor motoring convictions may suggest
that an individual’s driving standard needs to be improved.
Points accrued for speeding, are imposed only where a speed
awareness course cannot be offered – either because one has
already been attended within the previous 3 years, has been
refused or the speed in question exceeded certain speed ranges
indicating that an individual driving speed is of concern. In setting
the limit at more than 6 points for applicants, the council indicates
that more than one conviction for minor motoring convictions,
including speeding, would not be a barrier to gaining a licence.
In setting the limit higher for existing licenced drivers, including a
warning and training, the council was seeking to strike the right
approach for determining whether someone is suitable to work as
taxi and private hire driver, and showing a level of discretion for
people who are already working as taxi and private hire drivers.

Disagree because proposal is The council recognises that the proposed criterion would allow
not harsh enough
drivers with 6 points for minor motoring convictions to obtain a
licence. It is acknowledged that there are many people who
would want the threshold to be set lower than 6 points, so the
travelling public could be assured their taxi or private hire driver
did not have a high level of points on his or her licence.
The council recognises that the proposed criteria would also allow
drivers with 7 or more points to continue to hold a licence,
providing they undertook further training. It is acknowledged that
this is slightly out of step with the national recommended
standard, which recommends refusal and revocation at 7 points
for minor motoring convictions.
However, the criterion consulted on ‐ 7 points for applicants,
training at 7‐8 points and considering revocation at 9 points and
above ‐ was viewed by the working group set up by the council
and endorsed by Executive Board as striking the right approach
for determining whether someone is suitable to work as a taxi or
Page 49

Response/objection

Officer response
private hire driver, and showing a level of discretion for people
who are already working as taxi and private hire drivers.
The council can assure people wanting tougher measures that this
criterion does not apply to taxi and private hire drivers who have
convictions for more serious motoring offences, where other
criteria would be applied and result in a refusal of a licence?.

Policy discriminates or is
racist

The council is aware that the majority of taxi and private hire
licence holders are of Black & Minority Ethnicity (BAME). The
council carried out an Equality & Diversity Impact Assessment on
the proposed criterion on which the council consulted.
The council does not accept that because a criterion impacts
significantly on people of a BAME background, it is discriminatory
or racist, either directly or indirectly. People who use taxis and
private hire vehicles are entitled to feel safe when they get into
those vehicles, and a relevant aspect of safety is the standard of
driving.
The council considers that it is reasonable to require a higher
standard of driving of all drivers regardless of their ethnicity
The council considers that the consulted upon criteria, which
includes a provision for additional training for drivers with points
for minor motoring convictions, demonstrates that the council
wants to work with licence holders in a supportive way.

Passengers cause
distractions which can cause
minor driving faults

The council recognises that the job of taxi or private hire driver is
not an easy one, and that passengers may cause distractions to
drivers.
However, drivers are responsible for their own standard of driving
their vehicle, and it remains extremely important for drivers to
take steps to continue to drive in a safe and professional way
which avoids minor motoring convictions. Officers are not
therefore of the view that this situation requires an amendment
to the proposed criterion.

2 b) Further Miscellaneous Comments

Some comments do not fall into a specific category, generally because the number of responses
covering a theme are very low numbers, or the comment had little meaning or use. These are
listed as ‘Misc/General Comments’ in the table above. However, some of the more commonly
seen comments included:

Page 50

● Increase in speed cameras/money making traps are an issue
● LCC seem to put themselves above the DVLA
● Tinted/privacy windows policy in some areas is a concern for drivers – irrelevant to council
position on drivers with minor motoring convictions, will be addressed as part of future
vehicle policy reviews
● The courts will not ban someone on 12 points if it will affect their income/livelihood
● There is a lack of data to support the change
● It could make it harder for the public to get a taxi and could increase unemployment levels
● Some want LCC to have a full consultation on the whole suitability policy and not just the
points
● Some suggestions that people will take LCC to court or face a judicial review
● Drivers support their whole family on a single income, so the impact will be wider than just
the driver

2 d) Additional Considerations
Below are some considerations and checks made to ensure the validity of the results.
Repeating comments
There are a number of open-text comments that are identical and appear to have been replicated
between respondents. In total there were 60 comments with an identical statement, and a further 9
comments with a different statement but also identical.
This raised a concern of survey manipulation, so further work was carried out to understand the
source of these responses.
All of the repeated comments were submitted from different devices (security settings within our
survey software will generally only allow one response per device) and were from different IP
addresses. In addition the answers to other questions such as demographic information and
contact details suggest that these are different people.
Due to one particular comment it was found that wording had been written and shared with others.
Given that 63% of respondents were from a BAME background, it is possible that many
respondents do not use English as their first language, and therefore used the English wording
provided by others.
Given the above checks the duplicate responses are considered as valid and have been included
in the analysis.
IP address information
IP address checks were made to see if a large number of responses had been made on the same
internet network or at the same location. Other than repeating IP addresses belonging to Leeds
City Council, there was no unusual activity found.
Inconsistent responses
People were asked to leave a comment if they do not support the proposal. However a number of
people said they were in support but then left a comment.
When analysing these comments, it was noted that on 12 occurrences the comment left clearly
shows that they do not support the proposal. As mentioned above this could be as a result of
Page 51

language barriers, or simple human error. In addition, a further 8 people did not state whether the
agree/disagree, but the comment made clearly showed their choice.
These have been manually changed and their comments included in the analysis.
2 e) List of licensing authorities who responded to the council’s request

Ashfield
Ashford
Barnsley
Barrow-in-Furness
Bassetlaw
Basingstoke and Deane
Breckland
Brighton and Hove
Broadland
Broxbourne
Burnley
Cambridge
Canterbury
Cannock Chase
Charnwood
Colchester
Corby
Darlington
East Cambridgeshire
Erewash
Gedling
Guildford
Hambleton
Harborough
Hart
Harlow
Harrogate
Hertsmere
Hinckley and Bosworth
Hyndburn
Ipswich
Kettering
Knowsley
Leicester
London
Luton
Manchester
Middlesbrough
Newark and Sherwood
Newcastle-under-Lyme
North West Leicestershire
North Kesteven
North Somerset
North Tyneside
Oadby and Wigston
Oldham

Page 52

Pendle
Peterborough
Richmondshire
Rochford
Runnymede
Ryedale
Salford
Scarborough
Sedgemoor
Sefton
Sevenoaks
Sheffield
Folkestone and Hythe
Slough
Somerset West and Taunton
South Derbyshire
South Tyneside
South Norfolk
South Holland
Spelthorne
Stoke-on-Trent
Stroud
Surrey Heath
Swale
Teignbridge
Telford and Wrekin
Tendring
Test Valley
Thurrock
Torridge
Torbay
Vale of White Horse
Wakefield
Warwick
Watford
West Suffolk
Windsor and Maidenhead
Winchester
York

Page 53

Appendix C Flowchart for Applicant, Renewal, Training, Warning Decision

Page 54

Page 55

Page 56

